IN THE COURT APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ہ: 1

1

() ()

1

Sec. No

Sec. 10

たい

10.2

に応信

CASE NO. 2008-KA-00695-COA

DAVID JACKSON WILLIAM DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

DAVID G. HILL, MS BAR NO HILL & MINYARD, P.A. 1210 Office Park Drive, 3rd Floor P.O. BOX 429 OXFORD, MS 38655-0429 (662) 234-4315

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The lower court committed reversible error by denying the defendant an instruction on his theory of the case.
- II. The lower court committed reversible error by allowing Father Ollie Rencher to claim the priest-penitent privilege regarding the information contained in his statement given to the Oxford Police Department. (RE 10).
- III. The lower court committed plain error by allowing the expert testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne.
- IV. David Williams was denied effective assistance of trial counsel during his prosecution for the death of Demetria Bracey.
- V. The lower court committed reversible error by not granting David Williams' motion to dismiss based on the violation of the 270 day rule.

VI.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

100.00

が一般

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi. On February 16, 2006, the grand jury returned an indictment against appellant, David Jackson Williams, charging him with the murder of Demetria Bracey, in violation of Mississippi Code §97-3-19(a)(1). (RE 2); (TR Vol. 1 p. 1). After Williams' trial by jury commencing on

1

September 24, 2007, with the Honorable Andrew K. Howorth presiding, the jury found Williams guilty of the charge of murder. (TR Vol. 1 p. 77). The conviction resulted in a sentence of life imprisonment, filed on September 27, 2007. (RE 4); (TR Vol. 1 p. 79, 80). Post trial motions were timely filed, (RE 5, 6, 7), heard and an order overruling the motions entered on April 17, 2008. (RE 8); (TR Vol. 2 p. 156).Williams timely filed his notice of appeal on April 22, 2008. (RE 9); (TR Vol. 2 p. 157).

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

10 m

On November 15, 2005, investigators were called to David Williams' apartment at Old Taylor Place apartments in reference to a possible suicide. (TR Vol. 3 p. 140-141). Once inside, Lieutenant Wes Hatcher discovered the body of deceased Demetria Bracey in the closet of a back bedroom. (TR Vol. 3 p. 141). On November 16, 2005, after being released from the Baptist DeSoto Hospital in Southaven, Williams was questioned by police officers and he admitted that he and Bracey had agreed to a suicide pact and that a few days prior, they had both consumed a large amount of prescription pills and alcohol. (TR Vol. 4 p. 158, 164). Williams said they lay down in a closet in his bedroom, he told her he loved her and they attempted to complete their pact by stabbing themselves. (TR Vol. 4 p. 192). Williams, unsuccessful in his attempt to commit suicide, regained consciousness a couple hours afterwards and that is when he realized Bracey had successfully committed suicide. (TR Vol. 4 p. 158).

A friend of Bracey's, Michael Presnell, came forward on November 16, 2005, and told police Bracey had contemplated suicide at one point and that she seemed stressed over Williams' recent suicide attempt. (RE 11); (TR Vol. 2 p. 139). Presnell was not contacted by Williams' trial attorney to testify on his behalf. Also, on November 17, 2005, after learning of Bracey's death, Father Ollie Rencher, an Episcopalian chaplain at Ole Miss, came forward and gave a statement to the Oxford Police Department concerning some information about Bracey to which he had knowledge. (RE 10); (TR Vol. 2 p. 145-154). Among other things, Father Rencher told police that during a conversation with Bracey a few months prior, she had admitted to him that she had thought about committing suicide and when Father Rencher heard of her death, he thought she may have done so. (TR Vol. 2 p. 146, 151). Williams' trial attorney called Father Rencher to the stand; however, the trial court allowed him to claim the priest-penitent privilege in regards to any information he felt fell within the privilege. (TR Vol. 5 p. 384-386). Both Rencher's and Presnell's statements allude to the fact that Williams had tried to commit suicide in September 2005 and Bracey was extremely upset of the situation. (RE 10, 11); (TR Vol. 2 p. 139, 146).

[] [2] [3]

のないの

Carles and

Bull Bank

4.4.15

Same and

On November 16, 2005, Dr. Steven Hayne performed the autopsy on Bracey's body and determined that the manner of death was homicide. (TR Vol. 4 p. 239). Dr. Hayne testifies at trial that he excluded suicide as the manner of death because of the angle and depth of the stab wound, injuries on her neck that he testified were caused by manual strangulation, the absence of hesitation marks on Bracey's body, and the presence of what he called a defensive posturing wound on the back of her hand. (TR Vol. 4 p. 239). Dr. Arthur Copeland, Williams' expert medical legal consultant, challenged Dr. Hayne's conclusions and testified among other things, that Dr. Hayne failed to correlate the autopsy findings with the circumstances of the scene, as is required in forensic pathology. (TR Vol. 5 p. 407) Dr. Copeland also states that before Dr. Hayne concluded that the "injuries" on Bracey's neck were a result of manual strangulation, he should have done a more meticulous dissection of the area, taken more photographs of the area and shown his findings to another expert outside of the office for a second opinion. (TR Vol. 5 p. 407, 428).

At trial, during the instructions conference, Williams' trial attorney proposed Instruction D-3, an instruction on assisted suicide, which was aligned with Williams' defense. (RE 3). The State argued that in order to be granted an instruction, the crime must be a lesser-included offense of the indicted charge. (TR Vol. 5 p. 449). The trial court then refused the instruction holding that assisted suicide is not a lesser-included offense of murder, therefore Williams should not be granted the instruction. (RE 3) (TR Vol. 5 p. 449). Also, the defense counsel offered a manslaughter instruction, D-2, which used language "DAVID JACKSON WILLIAMS without authority of law and without malice aforethought did kill DEMETRIA BRACEY". (TR Vol. 1 p. 71). The trial court denied this instruction in favor of the State's manslaughter instruction which substituted the language "malice aforethought" with "deliberate design". (TR Vol. 1 p. 66).

Constant of the second

14 M

1.4

David Williams was indicted on March 2, 2006. He was brought to trial on September 24, 2007, a lapse of 570 days from the date of his indictment. All of this delay was attributable to the State. David Williams sought no continuances during this period.

VII.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The defendant, David Williams, assigns four errors that necessitate the reversal of his murder conviction.

First, the trial court failed to properly instruct the jury. The lower court committed reversible error by denying his proposed jury instruction on assisted suicide when such instruction constituted his theory of defense. (RE 3). Criminal defendants are entitled to fully develop their theory of the case, whether it is a defense, excuse, or justification, and to have the jury instructed as to the law on his theory. The court must grant the defendant an instruction on their theory of defense as long as the instruction correctly states the law, is not repetitious, and has an evidentiary foundation. This right to an instruction exists regardless of whether the evidence is weak, inconsistent, of doubtful credibility, and even if the sole testimony in favor of the defendant's theory is his own testimony.

The lower court denied David Williams' instruction on assisted suicide, his theory of defense, which left the jury with no instructions that would allow them to find in favor of Williams' theory. (RE 3). The lower court's denial of Williams' instruction was erroneous because the instruction was a correct statement of the law of assisted suicide, the content was not found in any other instructions, and there was an adequate foundation in evidence for the instruction. RE 3). Additionally, the trial court did not give the jury a manslaughter instruction which was tied to Williams' version of the facts. If the Court were not going to give an assisted suicide instruction, the Court should have given a manslaughter instruction tied to the Defendant's version of the facts. The manslaughter instruction given by the Court was meaningless in terms of Defendant's defense. This error denied Williams of his basic right to have the jury instructed on his theory of defense and warrants reversal of his conviction.

No.

調会

國國

1.1

1

X

Williams' second assignment error is that the lower court improperly allowed Father Ollie Rencher to claim the priest-penitent privilege during his direct examination by the defense. Mississippi's priest-penitent privilege protects communications between a person and a priest or minister, which are confidential and which take place when the priest is acting in his professional capacity as spiritual advisor. The privilege should be construed narrowly in light of its purpose to protect priests from having to disclose information in violation of their religious vows.

Father Ollie Rencher and Bracey knew each other through their associations with the Ole Miss Episcopalian church community. After hearing about Bracey's death, Father Rencher voluntarily went to the Oxford Police Department and gave a nine page statement disclosing information about Bracey, including, among other things, the fact that she had mentioned "in passing" and "not in the context of a confession" that she had thought about suicide. (RE 10). Rencher stated several times in his statement and again during his testimony that this particular conversation with Bracey did not take place in the context of a confession and was not a confidential conversation. The substance of the testimony that the defense sought from Father Rencher was derived from his statement to police, the content of which was not privileged because Father Rencher all but explicitly says it is not. However, when Rencher took the stand, the trial judge allowed him to claim the privilege regarding that very same conversation as well as to matters of Rencher's own observations, which would not be privileged at all.

No.

No.

ないと

The information concerning Bracey's suicidal thoughts in particular was extremely important to Williams' defense and gave significant support to his theory that she had committed suicide. Father Rencher's testimony was not at all privileged, as it consisted of either his opinions on Bracey's emotional state (not a privileged communication), or communications between them that he explicitly stated were not in confessional or confidential. Therefore the trial court committed reversible error by allowing him to claim the privilege.

Next, the trial court committed plain error by allowing the expert testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne. If a defendant fails to preserve an issue for appeal by failing to make a contemporaneous objection at trial, the defendant must rely on the plain error doctrine for appellate review. The plain error doctrine involves errors that affect the substantive rights of a defendant and covers anything that affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings.

The trial judge committed plain error by allowing Dr. Steven Hayne, the state medical examiner who performed the autopsy on Bracey, to testify as an expert at Williams' trial. Hayne

6

is not qualified. Dr. Hayne is not certified by the American Board of Pathology which is the required certifying board for position as Mississippi state medical examiner and the boards that have certified him are of questionable credibility. Hayne has also previously admitted that he performs over 1,000 autopsies a year, when the National Association of Medical Examiners advises that once a medical examiner performs more than 250 autopsies, they are at risk for error. The likelihood that Hayne's committed mistakes in Bracey's case is supported by Williams' medical expert who testified that several aspects of Hayne's performance of Bracey's autopsy were problematic. Because juries perceive experts to have such high credibility, trial courts should be scrupulous in their determination as to who to qualify as experts, and in Williams' case, the trial court failed to do so, warranting a reversal of his conviction.

の見い

1000

ない

Safety Co

第二之

Contraction of

1. Jane .

Last, Williams was denied effective assistance of counsel during his trial. Ineffective assistance necessitates a two-prong inquiry. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was defective, and second, how this defective performance prejudiced the defense. The second prong requires a showing that but for the trial counsel's ineffectiveness, the result of the proceeding would have been different.

Williams' trial counsel's performance was ineffective because he failed to make a motion for a change of venue. There was substantial pretrial publicity relating to Williams case and had counsel tried to change the venue, he probably would have been allowed to do so. (RE 13). Williams' trial counsel also failed to call an available local witness who could have supported his theory of defense by testifying that Bracey had at one point admitted to him that she had thoughts of suicide.

Williams' was also denied effective assistance because his trial counsel failed to introduce into evidence an online chat session that took place between Williams and Bracey shortly before her death where Bracey admitted she had thought about suicide. (RE 12). In addition to failing to develop evidence of Williams' own medical history in support of his theory he and Bracey had a suicide pact, he also failed to obtain any of Bracey's medical records or records of her medical history. Williams' trial counsel failed to object to the admission of Bracey's death certificate into evidence when the certificate concluded Bracey's death was a homicide, thereby invading the jury's duties as the fact finders.

100

and the second

Last, Defendant David Williams' case should be dismissed due to the lower court's error by not granting Williams' motion to dismiss based on the violation of the 270 day rule from the date of arraignment, March 2, 2006, to the trial which began on September 24, 2007, totaling 570 days. The Defendant sought no continuances during this period and the delay was all attributable to the State of Mississippi.

The defendant, David Williams, respectfully submits to this honorable Court that all five assignments of error warrant reversal of Williams' conviction. However, when considering each error in light of the other errors, it is clear Williams was denied a fair trial and prays the Court will reverse his conviction.

VIII.

ARGUMENT

A. THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT AN INSTRUCTION ON HIS THEORY OF THE CASE, AND, THEREFORE, FAILING TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY.

According to Mississippi law, jury instructions are to be read together, taken as a whole, with no one taken out of context. <u>Roberson v. State</u>, 838 So.2d 298, 304 (Miss. App. 2002) (*quoting* <u>Humphrey v. State</u>, 759 So.2d 368 (Miss. 2000)). With respect to the instructions, the main focus is whether the jury understood each party's theory of the case and was fairly

instructed. <u>Wortham v. State</u>, 883 So.2d 599, 604 (Miss. App. 2004) (quoting <u>McGee v. State</u>, 820 So.2d 700, 705 (Miss. App. 2000)).

4

いた

and the second

方法

17. Fr

は言語

ſ

"It is a basic tenet of our criminal system that a defendant is entitled to fully develop his theory of the defense and, so long as there is some supporting evidence in the record, to have the jury instructed as to the law on that theory." <u>Miller v. State</u>, 733 So.2d 846, 848 (Miss. App. 1998) (*citing* <u>Manuel v. State</u>, 667 So.2d 590, 591 (Miss. 1995)); *See also* <u>Chinn v. State</u>, 958 So.2d 1223, 1225 (Miss. 2007) ("[E]very accused has a fundamental right to have [his] theory of the case presented to a jury, even if the evidence is minimal."); <u>Grant v. State</u>, 788 So.2d 815 (Miss. App. 2001). The quality of the evidence in support of Defendant's theory does not have to be credible, nor does some minimum quantum of proof have to be developed. <u>Miller</u> at 849 (*citing* <u>Manuel</u> at 593). A defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case, "even though the evidence might be weak, insufficient, inconsistent, or of doubtful credibility, and even though the sole testimony in support of the defense is the defendant's own testimony". <u>Ealy v. State</u>, 757 So.2d 1053, 1059 (Miss. App. 2000); *See also* <u>Miller v. State</u>, 733 So.2d 846, 849 (Miss. App. 1998); <u>Giles v. State</u>, 650 So.2d 846, 849 (Miss. 1995); <u>Hester v.</u> State, 602 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1992).

The court in <u>Hester v. State</u> stated that in a homicide case, as well as other criminal cases, "the court should instruct the jury as to theories and grounds of defense, justification, or excuse supported by the evidence, and a failure to do so is error requiring reversal". <u>Hester</u>, 602 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1992). However, a trial court may refuse to grant an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is repetitious, or is without foundation in evidence. <u>Fairley v. State</u>, 871 So.2d 1282, 1285 (Miss. 2003). But a trial court considering an instruction, "should err on the side of inclusion rather than exclusion". <u>Booze v. State</u>, 964 So.2d 1218 (Miss. App. 2007) (quoting Jones v. State, 798 So.2d 1241 (Miss. 2001) (in reference to instructions on lesserincluded offenses) (See also Lenard v. State, 552 So.2d 93 (Miss. 1989) (involving an instruction on self-defense)).

In the case at bar, the trial court refused David Williams' proposed instruction D-3, an

instruction on assisted suicide, which read (RE 3):

3.500

1

「「「「

1932 A

If you find from the evidence in this case that the defendant, DAVID JACKSON WILLIAMS, is not guilty of the crime of murder, then you should continue with your deliberations to consider the elements of the lesser crime of assisting suicide. Assisting suicide is the willful, or in any manner, advising, encouraging, abetting, or assisting of another person to take, or in taking, the latter's life, or in attempting to take the latter's life.

If you find from the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt that:

1. On or about November 13, 2007 in Lafayette County, Mississippi;

2. That DEMETRIA BRACEY was a human being; and

3. That DAVID JACKSON WILLIAMS did willfully or in any manner, advise, encourage, abet or assist DEMETRIA BRACEY in taking her life;

then you shall find the defendant guilty of assisting suicide.

If the State has failed to prove any one or more of the above listed elements beyond a reasonable doubt, then you shall find DAVID JACKSON WILLIAMS not guilty of assisting suicide. (TR Vol. 1 p. 72).

This instruction fits Williams' version of the facts that Bracey had committed suicide. Investigators John Marsh and Jimmy Williams testified that Williams told them he and Bracey had spent several days drinking and taking pills and they had agreed that they would both commit suicide together. (TR Vol. 4 p. 158, 191-192). Williams stated that they both sat in the closet and talked for a few minutes and they then stabbed themselves as planned. (TR Vol. 4 p. 192). Bracey had successfully committed suicide; however, Williams woke up a few hours later, having been unsuccessful in his attempt. (TR Vol. 4 p. 192). Because the trial court refused the assisted suicide instruction, (RE 3), the jury was not properly instructed because they were not instructed on his version of the facts and theory of defense. The trial court ruled against allowing the assisted suicide instruction because the Court stated the defendant is only allowed an instruction on his theory of the case if it involves a lesserincluded offense. (TR Vol. 5 p. 449). This ruling is incorrect because the defendant's right to an instruction presenting his theory of the case is not limited to an instruction on lesser-included offenses, but also encompasses his theory of defense, justification and/or excuse, as stated in <u>Hester</u>. Assisted suicide was Williams' theory of defense and the jury should have received an instruction reflecting the same, allowing the jury to reach such a conclusion as an option.

ないで

1.13

State of

19. S. S.

関係の

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