DAVID JACKSON WILLIAMS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0695

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: JOHN R. HENRY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE	1
STATEMENT OF FACTS	1
STATEMENT OF ISSUES	9
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	10
ARGUMENT	10
1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING AN INSTRUCTION ON ASSISTED SUICIDE; THAT IT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING AN INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER	10

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

The evidence demonstrating murder was strong, unlike the evidence in support of rape in *Griffin*. The penalty for aiding suicide is a maximum of ten years imprisonment. Murder carries a life term. The disparity in sentences in the case at bar is not enormous, certainly not close to the difference between simple assault and rape.

was presented in support of the theory that the victim killed herself, and that was what was argued to the jury in summation. The instructions given to the jury informed them that if they did not find that the Appellant murdered the victim, it was to acquit him of the charge of murder. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 65). Thus, the defense was not deprived of its theory of defense. It simply did not need an instruction to make that defense. While the defense did claim that the victim committed suicide, the essential claim was that the Appellant simply did not kill her. The State's instruction covered this, stating that if the jury did not believe beyond a reasonable doubt that the Appellant committed the crime of murder they were to acquit him. If anything, the refusal of the instruction tended to benefit the defense in that the jury did not have the ability to come to a compromise verdict. A specific instruction on suicide was not necessary.

In the decisions in which a case has been reversed on account of a refusal of a lesser offense instruction, the refusal of the instruction acted so as to prevent the jury from considering a certain defense. Here that is not the case: the jury certainly was able to consider whether the victim died by her own hand.

Beyond this, since the jury convicted the Appellant of murder, there is no reason to suppose that the result would have been different had the aiding suicide instruction been given. There was proof that the victim had been strangled, while she was alive. There was proof, contrary to the assertions made by the Appellant, that the victim had no drugs in her system. There was proof that it would have taken a fairly considerable amount of force to put the knife in as far as it was. The body was hidden, with the Appellant staying in the apartment with it for several days, eating pizza and drinking. The Appellant did not report this so called suicide as

Since there was no prejudice to the defense, no error made be predicated on the refusal of the instruction. *Nicholson ex rel Gollott v. State*, 672 So.2d 744 (Miss. 1996).

E. THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INSTRUCTION

The Appellant's story was that the victim and he entered into a suicide pact. They were together; the victim killed herself and the Appellant lost his courage. However, the Appellant did not indicate that he did a single thing to assist the victim in her said - to - be act of suicide. By his story, he was simply with her. He did not say that he advised, encouraged, abetted or assisted the victim in her passing. Merely agreeing to enter a suicide pact does not constitute aiding another's suicide. There was insufficient evidence to support the granting of the instruction.

MANSLAUGHTER

The trial court gave an instruction on manslaughter, which was drafted by the State. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 66). The defense requested an instruction on manslaughter, which was refused. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 71). It appears to us that the instruction granted and the instruction refused charged the same form of manslaughter.

Here, the Appellant complains that the form of manslaughter charged was not tied to the facts of the case. Since the Appellant did not object on this ground in the trial court, he may not complain of it here. *Colburn v. State*, 990 So.2d 206 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Since the Appellant appears to have requested in essence the very same charge of manslaughter, which was no more "tied to the facts of the defense" than was the State's instruction, to the extent that the granting of this instruction was error (and we do not concede that it was) he may not complain of it for that

manslaughter. Whether the instruction should have been granted is moot.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT FATHER OLLIE RENCHER COULD NOT WAIVE THE PRIEST - PENITENT PRIVILEGE

In the Second Assignment of Error, the Appellant complains that Father Ollie Rencher was not permitted to testify as to certain statements made to him by the victim. While the Appellant acknowledges that Father Rencher could not be required to testify to confidential statements made to him by the victim while Father Rencher was acting in his capacity as a spiritual adviser to her, M.R.E. 505(b), he asserts that the victim's statements were not made under such a circumstance.

In a hearing in chambers, it was disclosed by the defense that Father Rencher, upon hearing of the death of the victim, took it upon himself to visit the Oxford Police Department to tell the officers there what he knew of the victim. He told the officers that the victim had contemplated suicide and that he advised her to seek medication. He further stated that the victim often seemed in a state of significant anxiety such that he again advised her to seek medical treatment. His first thought when he heard that the victim had been found dead was that she had committed suicide. The defense had been provided with a transcript of this Episcopal priest's statement. The defense asserted that the priest had waived the priest - penitent privilege by speaking to law enforcement. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 373 - 375).

Mr. Wayne Drinkwater, Esq., who was also the vice chancellor of the Episcopal Diocese of Mississippi, responded that Father Rencher had no authority to waive the priest - penitent

discussion with the police, that discussion did not amount to a waiver of the victim's privilege, Father Rencher having no authority to do any such thing.

Mr. Drinkwater further opined that most of the matters Father Rencher told him that he told the police were matters he got from other sources or from the victim when he was not acting as her spiritual counselor. Mr. Drinkwater's view was that Father Rencher could testify to such things; the only matters he could not testify to were those statements made to him by the victim while he was acting in his capacity as her spiritual counselor. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 375 - 377).

This did not satisfy the defense. It was the defense position that Father Rencher could invoke the privilege anytime he wished, if the court accepted Mr. Drinkwater's argument. It then renewed the argument that Rencher waived the privilege by talking to the police. It further asserted that the entire purpose of the privilege had been made meaningless by Rencher's statements – that the statements were no longer confidential. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 377 - 378). With this, Mr. Drinkwater disagreed.

The trial court ruled that the privilege belonged to the victim's personal representatives or estate and that it would not permit into evidence any statements made by the victim to the priest while he was acting in his capacity as her spiritual counselor. The defense then made proffer of the transcript of the statement. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 379 - 380).

Father Rencher was then called by the defense to testify. He stated that he was Bracey's spiritual advisor, but not "personal friends" with her. He acknowledged that also spoke with her on occasions when he was not acting in his capacity as her advisor.

The defense then attempted to steer the priest's testimony to an event on Good Friday in

priest whether he believed that the answer to the question would be something that fell within the privilege; the priest stated that he did believe that, yet also stated that he did not have a confidential conversation with the victim on that day. Rencher went on to say that he saw the victim in passing, saw that she was very anxious and asked her whether she was seeing a counselor. The victim stated that she was seeing a counselor, and Rencher told her that he hoped that she would improve.

The trial court then asked the priest whether the conversation occurred at his church. Rencher stated that it occurred in a hallway. Upon that answer, the trial court ruled that the defense would not be permitted to enquire into the Good Friday conversation because it fell within the “confidential relationship”

The court then directed the defense to run through the rest of the questions it wished to put to the priest. The defense asked Rencher whether the victim ever told him that she was considering suicide, in conversations that did not involve religious counseling. The priest replied that she did not. He was then asked whether the victim had at any time told him that she was considering suicide. He stated that under the privilege he could not divulge that. The court ruled again that it would not permit the defense to put those questions to the priest.

The defense then asked whether Rencher advised the victim to go to counseling sessions. He responded that he had done so. There were several other questions put to the witness, again relating to the conversation that occurred on Good Friday at the church. If we understand the court, it again ruled that the conversation between Rencher and the victim that occurred on Good Friday would not be admitted to evidence. There was then a question about low self - esteem on

those that were asked. Noting that only one or two had been “cleared,” it stated that it did not intend to ask those questions before the jury, and in fact it was not going to ask those. The jury was returned to the courtroom and the defense announced that it had no further questions of the witness. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 382 - 388).

Father Rencher was undoubtedly a clergyman as defined by M.R.E. 505(a)(1). Under M.R.E. 505(b), a person has a privilege to refuse to disclose and prevent another from disclosing a confidential communication by the person to a clergyman in his professional character as spiritual advisor. Under 505(c), the privilege may be claimed by the person, by his guardian or conservator, or by his personal representative, if he is deceased. The clergyman shall claim the privilege on behalf of the person unless the privilege is waived.

A communication is confidential if made privately and not intended for further disclosure except in furtherance of the purpose of the communication. M.R.E. 505(a)(2).

Preliminarily, to the extent that the Appellant was of the view that Fr. Rencher’s statements to the police operated as a waiver of the privilege, this was incorrect. Under 505(b), (c), it is very clear that the privilege exists in favor of the penitent, and it is he, not the priest, who has the right to refuse to disclose confidential communications made to the priest, or to permit disclosure. An overtalking priest who violates this privilege cannot effectively waive the privilege. That would destroy the meaning and purpose of the privilege. It would be directly contrary to the rule that it is the penitent, not the verbally incontinent priest, who may waive the privilege. If the priest violated the privilege by talking about matters he would have best kept to himself, this would not have prevented the invocation of the privilege at trial – by the priest.

whether he did or might have violated it previously.

We must say that the trial court's ruling concerning the conversation had on Good Friday is puzzling. While the priest stated that he was "uncomfortable" with the question, he also stated that he did not have a "confidential conversation" with the victim on that day. And he further stated that the conversation occurred in a hallway of his church. The court apparently considered the fact that the conversation occurred inside the church as a dispositive fact. If so, we cannot agree that this fact alone determined the issue, especially in light of the fact that the priest denied having had a "confidential conversation" with the victim. That the conversation occurred in a hallway, rather than in a confessional or private office, would be some evidence that it was not confidential or intended to be so.

Having said this, however, any error in this was surely harmless. Whether the victim was advised to seek medication on Good Friday, 2005, a period of roughly six months prior to the time of her death was remote. Whether she was anxious in the Spring of 2005 was of little importance. The exclusion of this testimony cannot possibly be seen to have made a difference in the case.

The priest denied that the victim told him, in meetings that were not religious counseling sessions, that she was considering suicide. He declined to say whether she told him at any time that she had considered suicide, citing the privilege. However, there were no follow - up questions to designed to determine whether the privilege was available. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 386) Since the defense did not enquire further into the matter, it is not possible to find error in the court's ruling on this much. The priest clearly indicated that, if there had been references to

the priest was not right in invoking the privilege.

In the end, the defense chose not present further testimony from the priest to the jury. Consequently, the parts of the statement to the police that most likely would have been non - privileged were not admitted on account of the rulings by the trial court but on account of the fact that the defense did not wish to put them into evidence. The trial court cannot be faulted for this. As for the priest's comment to the effect that he wondered whether the victim might have killed herself, once he heard news of her death, that was mere speculation on his part, and inadmissible for that reason. In any event, most of the statement had to do with some alleged threat or effort on the part of the Appellant to kill himself. We perceive nothing in all of that of benefit to the defense.

The Second Assignment of Error should be denied.

3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING DR. HAYNE TO TESTIFY

In the Third Assignment of Error, the Appellant alleges that the pathologist who testified on behalf of the State, Dr. Steven Hayne, should not have been permitted to testify because he was not certified by the American Board of Pathology. He also alleges that Hayne's finding of trauma consistent with strangulation was a "major mistake."

There was no objection to Hayne's qualification as an expert in forensic pathology. The issue may not be raised here. *Dixon v. State*, 953 So.2d 1108, 1116 (Miss. 2007). The Third Assignment of Error may not be considered under the doctrine of "plain error" because the admission of Hayne's testimony did not seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public

Pathology, the short and sufficient answer is that he was not required to be. Dr. Hayne never testified that he was the State Medical Examiner. Only the State Medical Examiner is required to be so certified. Miss. Code Section 41-61-55 (Rev. 2005). On the other hand, other pathologists under the supervision of the Commissioner of Public Safety are not required to possess such a certification. Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-61-77(3) (Rev. 2005)

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that Dr. Hayne is “unquestionably” qualified to testify in the courts of this State in the field of forensic pathology. *Duplantis v. State*, 708 So.2d 1327, 1329 (Miss. 1998). And, while the Appellant makes much of Justice Diaz’ special concurrence in *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 799 - 811 (Miss. 2007), joined only by one other justice, the majority in *Edmonds* stated that Hayne “. . . is qualified to proffer expert opinions in forensic pathology. . . .” *Edmonds*, at 792. Justice Diaz’s special concurrence, it need hardly be said, is no precedent.

The Appellant then refers the Court to some publication or another. The Court may not consider this since it forms no part of the record in this case. It is to be ignored. *Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 318 (Miss. 1983).

As for the claim that Dr. Hayne may have made a “major mistake,” it is true that the defense forensic pathologist complained about Hayne’s procedures. He did indicate that what Hayne observed might have been a consequence of decomposition of the body. But he did not state as an unequivocal opinion that Hayne was simply wrong. The conflict in the testimony about the cause of the neck or throat injuries was a matter for the jury to resolve. That experts disagree is hardly an uncommon thing, but it is no reason at all to find that one or the other is

field in forensic pathology, and in view of the fact that he was under no obligation to be certified by the American Board of Pathology, there was no “plain error” in admitting his testimony.

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

4. THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

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